RECEIVED

11-06-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURTOFAPPEALS

DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2015AP1671-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

CHAD T. KIPPLEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from the Circuit Court for Dane County, the Honorable John W. Markson, Presiding Circuit Court Case No. 2014CT768

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JENNIFER A. LOHR State Bar No. 1085725

LOHR LAW OFFICE, LLC 222 S. Hamilton St., Suite 21 Madison, WI 53703 (608) 515-8106 jlohr@lohrlawoffice.com

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Under the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution, is it unreasonable for law enforcement to initiate a traffic stop of a boat based on an incorrect belief that the boat's engine was overpowered in violation of Wis. Stat. § 30.62(2m)?

Trial Court Answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The issue presented can be fully presented in briefing, so Mr. Kippley does not request oral argument. Publication is not appropriate because this is a one-judge appeal. Wis. Stat. § 752.31(2)(d) and (3) and § (Rule) 809.23(1)(b)4.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Kippley appeals from the circuit court ruling that denied his motion to suppress evidence, including his statements to law enforcement, that a Department of Natural Resources warden found after stopping Kippley's boat based on an incorrect belief that the boat's motor was overpowered for the boat, contrary to Wis. Stats. § 30.62(2m).

Warden Kyle Dilley was launching a patrol boat in the Yahara River from Lottes Park boat landing in the City of Monona in the early evening of June 7, 2014, when Kippley's boat approached the landing. (33:9-10; App.114-15.) Dilley made two observations that he believed constituted equipment violations. First, Kippley's boat was small with a large motor attached and was traveling in a bow-up position, which Dilley believed indicated that the boat was equipped with a motor in excess of its horsepower rating. (33:11-12; App.116-17.) Second, Dilley believed the registration decals were not contrasting colors but were the same color as the boat. (33:12; App.117.)

Dilley turned the patrol boat around and followed Kippley back to the landing dock, where he approached Kippley on his boat for the purpose of investigating whether or not the motor attached to Kippley's boat was in excess of the maximum horsepower rating. (33:12-13, 17; App.117-18.)

Wis. Stat. § 30.62(2m) states:

OVERPOWERING. No person may sell, equip or operate, and no owner of a boat may allow a person to operate, a boat with any motor or other propulsion machinery beyond its safe power capacity, taking into consideration the type and construction of such watercraft and other existing operating conditions.

As a result of the conversation, Dilley detected an odor or intoxicants from Kippley and that Kippley's eyes appeared to be glassy and bloodshot. (33:16; App.121.) Kippley was ultimately arrested and charged with operating a motorboat while under the influence of an intoxicant (2nd offense). (3:1.)

Kippley moved to suppress evidence and statements resulting from the stop on the basis that Dilley did not have reasonable suspicion to believe that a crime or ordinance violation had occurred or was occurring. (14.). The court initially denied Kippley's suppression motion without a hearing. (16; App.101-04.) Kippley moved the court to reconsider its denial of the motion to suppress without a hearing. (18; 105-10.) The court granted the motion to reconsider, and an evidentiary hearing was held at which Dilley testified for the State, and Patrick Johnson, Jim Wirts, and Kippley testified for the defense. (19; 20.)

Dilley testified that his basis for stopping Kippley's boat was to determine "if the vessel was rated for the size of the motor that was equipped on that vessel, or if the vessel was, I guess, being operated over capacity, which would be a weight limit of the vessel." (33:17; App.122.) Dilley had observed that Kippley's boat, a small vessel, traveling upstream from several hundred yards away, "with what appeared to be a large object attached to the back or stern of the vessel." (33:10; App.115.) When Kippley's boat was approximately ten to fifteen feet from the landing, Dilley was able to see that the object was a large outboard motor attached to the transom of the vessel. (33:11; App.116.) The boat was traveling at a slow speed in a bow-out position. (33:11-12; App.116-17.) Dilley believed the large size of the motor and the fact that the boat was in a bow-out position suggested that the boat may be equipped with a motor that is in excess of its maximum horsepower rating. (Id.)

On cross-examination, Dilley testified that he had no idea whether the weight of a motor has any relevance to the horsepower of a motor. (33:23; App.126.) He agreed that Wisconsin law only regulates the horsepower of a motor, and not the motor's weight. (*Id.*) Looking at a motor would not indicate what horsepower that motor was. (*Id.*)

Ultimately, although Kippley informed Dilley that the motor was 30 horsepower, Dilley could not determine whether the overcapacity statute was violated because Kippley's boat lacked a capacity plate, which is not a requirement for all boats. (33:14; App.119.) Dilley did not

know whether it was a violation of law for Kippley's boat to be without a capacity plate. (*Id.*)

Jim Wirts testified that he has repaired marine engines and boats professionally for over thirty-six years. (33:42.) Wirts met Kippley for the first time in relation to this case, and had the opportunity to inspect Kippley's boat and boat engine. (*Id.*) Wirts testified that Kippley's boat engine was a 1957 28-horse Evinrude, which is heavier than newer motors with a higher horsepower. (33:43-45.) With regards to the motor on Kippley's boat, there was no way to tell the power capacity of the motor simply by looking at the boat. (33:46.) Further, based on his knowledge and experience, Writs testified that a boat traveling bow-up in the water may not be an indication of an overpowered engine, depending on how the trim is set on the boat. (33:48-49.)

There was conflicting testimony regarding Dilley's observation that the boat's decals were not contrasting colors, which Dilley thought to be a violation of Wis. Stats. § 30.523(2). Wisconsin law requires the owner of a boat to affix certification decals to each side of the boat and to "maintain the decals in a legible condition at all times." Wis. Stat. § 30.523(2)

Dilley testified that the registration numbers and letters on the starboard (right) side of the vehicle were black, which matched the color of the vessel (33:12; App.117.) However, he did not raise the issue of the decals during his stop of Kippley. (33:27; App.130.) Further, Dilley testified that his purpose in stopping Kippley was to investigate the power of Kippley's boat motor. (33:17; App.122.)

Patrick Johnson, a friend of Kippley's who had been in contact with Kippley's boat between five and ten times in the past, testified that he was on the dock at the boat landing on the day in question and witnessed Kippley's boat approaching the dock and Dilley's subsequent interactions with Kippley. (33:35-37, 40.) Johnson testified that Exhibit 1 (20:3) was Kippley's boat, and accurately displayed the decals on the boat on the day in question. (33:38.) Johnson stated that he did not recall ever seeing Kippley's boat with black on black decals. (33:38-39.)

Kippley testified that the photo of the boat in Exhibit 1 was the boat he was using when stopped by Dilley in June 2014, and that he had not changed the motor or decals on that boat between being stopped by Dilley and taking the photograph. (33:50.)

The court upheld the stop solely because of the suspected motor capacity violation and made no factual finding or ruling regarding the legibility of the boat decals. (33:62-69.)

Circuit Court Ruling Regarding Boat Stop

In upholding the stop, the court characterized the issue as whether there was reasonable suspicion to investigate whether there was an equipment violation, that is, whether the motor was oversized. (33:62-63; App.135-36.)

The court noted that Dilley had four years of experience and seasonally was involved in boating law enforcement, including equipment enforcement. (33:63; App.136.) The court found credible Dilley's testimony that Kippley's boat was in an unusually bow-up attitude as it approached the dock where Dilley was, and that in a no-wake zone this could be indicative of either the boat traveling at a greater speed than was permitted, or that the motor was oversized. (*Id.*)

The court reasoned that there is a reasonable relationship between the motor's horsepower and the size of the motor. (33:64; App.137.) Because Kippley's motor was painted over, Dilley had no ability to determine the horsepower simply by looking at the motor. (*Id.*) Dilley was therefore entitled to investigate his suspicion that "this motor was simply too big and too powerful for this boat." (*Id.*) The court found that a "logical reasonable explanation from the standpoint of this experienced warden was that the motor was oversized," and that the question of whether the motor was oversized, "in and of itself furnishe[d] an adequate basis for the stop." (33:66; App.139.)

The court also referenced *Heien v. North Carolina*, 135 S.Ct. 530 (2014), which had been decided one month before the suppression hearing. Although the court did not think that a mistake of law had been made in this case, it noted that a reasonable mistake of law or fact can form the basis for reasonable suspicion. (33:65-66; App.138-39.) The court stated that it was not basing the decision on *Heien*, and rejected the defense's theory that there was a mistake of law in the way that Dilley applied the statute. (33:67-68; App.140-41.)

Kippley later entered a guilty plea to Operate Boat while Intoxicated (2nd) contrary to Wis. Stat. § 30.681(1)(a). (30.) He appeals pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10).

ARGUMENT

Kippley's boat did not violate any statute or code, and the DNR officer's suspicion that it did was unreasonable, thus the trial court erred in upholding the stop.

The Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States Constitution and article I, section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect citizens from unreasonable searches and seizures. Traffic stops are considered seizures, and if the seizure was unreasonable and consequently unconstitutional, any evidence obtained therefrom is inadmissible. *State v. Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶ 11, 317 Wis.2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569; *State v. Harris*, 206 Wis.2d 243, 263, 557 N.W.2d 245 (1996). The burden falls on the State to prove that a stop meets the constitutional standards. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 12, 301 Wis.2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634; *State v. Taylor*, 60 Wis. 2d 506, 519, 210 N.W.2d 873 (1973) ("[w]here a violation of the Fourth Amendment right against unreasonable search and seizures is asserted, the burden of proof upon the motion to suppress is upon the state").

Whether there is reasonable suspicion or probable cause to conduct a traffic stop is a question of constitutional fact. *Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶ 10. Appellate courts apply a twostep standard of review to questions of constitutional fact. *State v. Williams*, 2001 WI 21, ¶ 18, 241 Wis.2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106. First, the court will review the circuit court's findings of historical fact and uphold them unless they are clearly erroneous. *Popke*, 317 Wis. 2d 118, ¶ 10. Second, the circuit court's determination of reasonable suspicion or probable cause to make a traffic stop will be reviewed de novo. *Id*.

I. Warden Dilley did not have reasonable suspicion of a violation of the motor power capacity statute

An officer must have reasonable suspicion that a traffic law has been or is being violated to justify a traffic stop. *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶ 30, 364 Wis.2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143. Reasonable suspicion depends on an officer's ability to "point to specific and articulable facts

which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion." *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21 (1968). In determining reasonableness, the court examines whether the facts of the case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience to suspect that an individual is committing, is about to commit or has committed an offense. *Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 13 (citation omitted).

Here, Dilley stopped Kippley's boat after he noticed that the boat was traveling in a bow-up position and had a large object attached to the back. Before the stop, Dilley was able to see that the object was the boat's motor. Dilley testified, and the circuit court agreed, that these observations were sufficient to articulate a reasonable suspicion of a violation of the motor capacity statute.

However, Wis. Stat. § 30.62(2m) deals with the power of a motor, not its size. The court erred in finding a reasonable relationship between motor size or weight and horsepower, based on the testimony presented. Dilley admitted on cross-examination that he had no knowledge of the relevance between motor weight and horsepower, but the statute regulates that only horsepower. (33:23; App.126.) Wirst testified that motors newer than Kippley's 1957 model would be lighter than Kippley's, even with higher horsepower. (33:44-45.)

Further, Wirts testified that a boat traveling bow-up in the water does not necessarily indicate that its motor is overpowered. (33:48.) Instead, the setting of trim on the boat will impact whether the power capacity of a motor causes the boat to be in a bow-up position. (33:48-49.) A motor's weight does not correlate with its power capacity, and there was no evidence before the court that heavier motors are more powerful motors such that a boat that is bow up while traveling at a slow-no-wake speed would be in violation of this statute. Stopping a boat on the basis of its size is not a legitimate reason to determine whether the boat is over capacity – if it were, any boat could be stopped at any time for this reason.

Here, the record also fails to demonstrate that Dilley's suspicion regarding motor overcapacity were reasonable or supported by training or experience rendering him capable of judging the standards of the statute. An officer must have a sufficient factual basis to believe any violation of law was being committed. *See State v. Conaway*, 2010 WI App 7, 323 Wis.2d 250, 779 N.W.2d 182 (concluding traffic stop based on rear window tinting was unlawful because the officer did not testify that he had any training or experience rendering him capable of judging the technical standard of fact set forth in the administrative rule).

When asked about his training as a DNR warden, Dilley testified that he attended law enforcement training academies, but listed no trainings related to boat equipment. (33:6; App.111.) Although Dilley testified that he is familiar, based on his training and experience, with the laws governing boat equipment, his answers contain the same confusion of motor size and weight with horsepower. Dilley testified that he was familiar with laws regarding motor size in relation to different types of boats, that his familiarity was better than average with respect to different types of boats and motor sizes and capacities, and that he is generally able to tell when a boat is operating with visibly illegal equipment or motors. (33:7-8; App.112-13.) However, as was established by both Dilley's and Wirts' testimony, whether the power capacity of a boat's motor is overpowered for that boat is *not* something that is visibly illegal, and cannot be determined by the motor size or appearance.

Based on the evidence presented at the suppression hearing, Dilley failed to articulate specific facts providing a reasonable suspicion that the motor on Kippley's boat violated Wis. Stat. § 30.62(2m).

II. Warden Dilley's mistaken belief that Kippley's boat violated the motor capacity statute was unreasonable and therefore did not create reasonable suspicion to justify the stop

Dilley's stated his suspicion regarding the power of Kippley's boat was based on his observations of the motor's physical size and the boat's bow-up positions – neither of which relate to the boat's horsepower, according to the evidence heard at the suppression hearing. Were this a reasonable mistake of the law, the stop would be justified. *Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶ 52 (an "objectively reasonable mistake of law by a police officer can form the basis for reasonable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop."); *Heien v. North Carolina*, 135 S. Ct. 530, 536 (2014). However where the officer's mistake of law is unreasonable, the evidence collected from the traffic stop should be suppressed. *See id.* at 539.

Objectively reasonable mistakes of law are exceedingly rare and occur "when a statute is genuinely ambiguous, such that overturning the officer's judgment requires hard interpretive work." *Id.* ¶ 67-68 (quoting *Heien*, 135 S. Ct. at 541 (Kagan, J., concurring)). A mistake of law cannot be deemed reasonable where the mistake is one of ignorance, rather than a reasonable misinterpretation of the law's confines.

The statute at issue here is not ambiguous; it prohibits the operation of "a boat with any motor or other propulsion machinery beyond its safe power capacity, taking into consideration the type and construction of such watercraft and other existing operating conditions." Wis. Stat. § 30.62(2m). On its face, the law limits enforcement to the power capacity of a boat's engine, and not its size or weight. Dilley's mistaken belief that the size or weight of the motor in relation to the boat could violate the statute is an unreasonable interpretation of the law. Thus the record fails to demonstrate that Dilley's mistakes regarding motor overcapacity were reasonable or supported by training or experience. The record shows instead that Dilley lacked knowledge regarding the overcapacity statute, and that this was unreasonable stop.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons given above, the circuit court's order denying Chad Kippley's motion to suppress should be reversed and the case should be remanded for further proceedings.