RECEIVED

02-09-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No. 2015AP1671-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

CHAD T KIPPLEY,

Defendant-Appellant.

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, BRANCH 1, THE HONORABLE JOHN W. MARKSON, PRESIDING CIRCUIT COURT CASE 2014CT768

> Stephanie R. Hilton Assistant District Attorney Dane County, Wisconsin Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State Bar No. 1081240

> 215 South Hamilton Street Dane County Courthouse, Room 3000 Madison, WI 53703 Telephone: (608)266-4211

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

ARGUMENT

The only issue on appeal is whether the trial court properly denied Kippley's motion to suppress. "Ordinarily, a guilty plea waives all non-jurisdictional defects and defenses." State v. Hampton, 2010 WI App 169, ¶ 23, 330 Wis.2d 531, 793 N.W.2d 901, rev. denied, 2011 WI 29, 332 Wis.2d 279, 797 N.W.2d 524. But, "[a] narrowly crafted exception to this rule exists," "which permits appellate review of an order denying a motion to suppress evidence, notwithstanding a guilty plea." See id.; see also Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10).

I. THIS COURT SHOULD UPHOLD THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT THAT WARDEN DILLEY'S BELIEF WAS REASONABLE THAT KIPPLEY'S VESSEL VIOLATED THE POWER MOTOR CAPACITY STATUTE.

A. Standard of Review

The standard of review for findings of fact made by a trial court is that they will be affirmed unless clearly erroneous. Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2). A denial of a suppression motion is analyzed using a two-part standard of review. *State v. Conner*, 2012 WI App 105, ¶ 15, 344 Wis. 2d 233, 821 N.W. 2d 267; *see also* Wis. Stat. § 805.17(2). First, the trial court's findings of fact will be upheld

unless they are clearly erroneous, and second, this Court independently reviews whether those facts warrant suppression. Conner, 2012 WI App 105, \P 15.

B. General Principles of Fourth Amendment Law Regarding the Legality of Warrantless Searches and Seizures

Both the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect "the right of people to be secure in persons, houses, papers, and effects their aqainst unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. amend IV; Wis. Const. art. 1, § 11. The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is reasonableness. See, e.g. State v. Robinson, 2010 WI 80, ¶ 32, 327 Wis. 2d 302, 786 N.W.2d 463. It does not prohibit all searches and seizures, but rather the Fourth Amendment merely prohibits those which are unreasonable. See, id.

i. A Terry stop is one of the well-established exceptions to the general rule that seizures conducted without a warrant are per se unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment.

In Terry v. Ohio, the United States Supreme Court approved a "frisk" for weapons as a justifiable response to an officer's reasonable belief that he was dealing with a

possibly armed and dangerous suspect. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 24, 88 S. Ct. 1868 (1968). The Terry Court recognized the legitimacy of an investigative stop and its role in effective crime prevention and detection by stating, "a police officer may in appropriate circumstances and in an appropriate manner approach a person for purposes of investigating possibly criminal behavior even though there is no probable cause to make an arrest." Terry, 392 U.S. at 22.

A Terry stop is one of the specifically established and well-delineated exceptions to the general rule that warrant seizures conducted without а are per se unreasonable. Minnesota v. Dickerson, 508 U.S. 306, 372-73, 113 S. Ct. 2130 (1993). A Terry stop, including the stop of a vehicle or a boat, is a Fourth Amendment seizure of a person, and is therefore subject to the requirement of the Fourth Amendment that all seizures be reasonable. See, e.g., State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 10, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W. 2d 634.

Wisconsin has adopted the *Terry* rule and codified it in Wisconsin Statute § 968.24, which states:

After having identified himself or herself as a law enforcement officer, a law enforcement officer may stop a person in a public place for a reasonable

period of time when the officer reasonably suspects that such person is committing, is about to commit or has committed a crime, and may demand the name and address of the person and an explanation of the person's conduct. Such detention and temporary questioning shall be conducted in the vicinity where the person was stopped.

Wis. Stat. § 968.24.

Therefore, when interpreting the scope of Wis. Stat. § 968.24, courts must apply the principles from *Terry* and its progeny. *See*, *e.g.*, *Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 11.

i. When determining whether a *Terry* stop is valid, the focus is on the reasonableness of the actions of law enforcement.

When a court is called upon to determine whether a Terry stop passes Fourth Amendment constitutional muster, the ultimate issue is whether the actions of the law enforcement officer were reasonable under all the circumstances. See, e.g., State v. Limon, 2008 WI App 77, ¶¶ 11, 12, 26, 312 Wis. 2d 174, 751 N.W.2d 877. The State has the burden of establishing that a Terry stop was reasonable. State v. Pickens, 2010 WI App 5, ¶ 14, 323 Wis. 2d 226, 779 N.W.2d 1; State v. Post, 2007 WI 70, ¶ 12, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634.

The officer must be able to point to specific, articulable facts which, taken together with rational

from those facts, reasonably warrant the inferences intrusion of the stop. State v. Batt, 2010 WI App 155, \P 18, 330 Wis. 2d 159, 793 N.W.2d 104; see also, e.g., State v. Post, 2007 WI 70, ¶ 10, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. When a person is seized pursuant to a Terry stop, "reasonable suspicion" is the quantum of evidence that is required to satisfy the reasonableness requirement of both the Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution. Post, 2007 WI 70, ¶¶ 2, 8. In assessing the constitutional validity of a Terry stop, the totality of the circumstances test is used - the whole picture must be taken into account - in determining whether the police have lawfully conducted a *Terry* stop. Batt, 2010 WI App 155, ¶¶ 18, 23.

In numerous cases, Wisconsin courts have stated that the question of what constitutes reasonable suspicion is a common sense approach: under all the facts and circumstances present, what would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience. *State v. Bons*, 2007 WI App 124, ¶ 13, 301 Wis. 2d 227, 731 N.W.2d 367.

Additionally, the training, experience, and knowledge of the officer, acquired while on the job, should be given

due weight by a reviewing court when it determines whether reasonable suspicion for the stop was present at the time of the stop; the evidence, including inferences, must be seen and weighted not in terms of library analysis by scholars but as understood by those versed in the field of law enforcement. State v. Bailey, 2009 WI App 140, ¶ 25, 321 Wis. 2d 350, 773 N.W.2d 488. Therefore in determining reasonableness, courts apply a common sense test that considers what а reasonable officer would reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and experience. In order to make a valid traffic stop, including the stop of a boat, an officer need only have a reasonable suspicion that a crime has been or is being committed. See, e.g., State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 57, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996).

ii. Law enforcement officers may conduct a Terry stop for criminal or non-criminal offenses.

An investigatory stop is also permissible for a violation of non-criminal traffic laws. A person's activity can constitute either a civil forfeiture or a crime – in either instance, a law enforcement officer may perform an investigative stop. *State v. Krier*, 165 Wis. 2d 673, 675, 478 N.W.2d 63 (Ct. App. 1991). Furthermore, a police officer does not have to issue citations for every –

or any - violation that the person was originally stopped for. See State v. Limon, 2008 WI App 77, ¶ 23, 312 Wis. 2d 174, 751 N.W.2d 877. In Limon, one of the reasons for the stop of the defendant, and several other persons, was a violation of Milwaukee's loitering ordinance. The Court, in finding that reasonable suspicions was present, stated, "[s]imilarly, it is of no consequence that loitering citations were never issued to Limon and the men." Limon, 2008 WI App 77, ¶ 23.

The potential availability of an innocent explanation does not prohibit an investigative stop. Id. If any reasonable inference of wrongful conduct can be objectively discerned, notwithstanding the existence of other innocent inference that could be drawn, the officers have the right to temporarily detain the individual for the purpose of the 2008 77, ¶ inquiry. Limon, WΙ App 23 (emphasis added)(citing State v. Griffin, 183 Wis. 2d 327, 333, 515 N.W.2d 535 (Ct. App. 1994)).

C. This Court Should Uphold the Trial Court's Finding of Fact That Warden Dilley's Belief That Kippley's Vessel Violated the Power Motor Capacity Statute Was Reasonable and Therefore the Trial Court's Decision Was Not Clearly Erroneous.

At an evidentiary hearing on January 13, 2015, Department of Natural Resources Warden Kyle Dilley testified about stopping Chad Kippley and his small vessel near the Lottes Park boat launch in the City of Monona, Dane County, on June 7, 2014 (33:9-13). Warden Dilley testified that at approximately 5:36 p.m. he was preparing to launch his patrol boat when he observed a small vessel, possibly a personal water craft, several hundred yards away, traveling upstream on the Yahara River (33:10). He noticed it had a large object attached to the back (or stern) of the vessel. (33:10). Warden Dilley took no action at this time.

Warden Dilley testified that he and his partner continued launching their patrol boat, had pulled away from the dock, and then Warden Dilley saw the same small, personal water craft-like vessel again (33:11). As the vessel got closer, Warden Dilley observed that the large object on the stern of the vessel was a large outboard motor attached to the transom (33:11). At this point, the vessel was about 10-15 feet away from Warden Dilley, and traveling at a very slow speed (33:11-12). He observed the vessel was in a bow-out position, which based Warden Dilley's training and experience, he knew could indicate

that the boat has a motor in excess of the maximum horsepower rating (33:11-12). The motor power capacity statute states:

No person may sell, equip or operate, and no owner of a boat may allow a person to operate, a boat with any motor or other propulsion machinery beyond its safe power capacity, taking into consideration the type and construction of such watercraft and other existing operating conditions.

Wis. Stat. § 30.62(2m).

Warden Dilley was unable to tell the horsepower rating of Kippley's motor by looking at the motor because the motor cover was spray painted - obscuring any information that may have been otherwise visible (33:23). In addition, Warden Dilley testified that he also observed that the registration decals on the starboard side of the vessel were black and the vessel was also black in color, which is a violation of the Wisconsin Statutes (33:12). The registration decals on a boat are required to be in a color that contrasts with the color of the boat. *See* Wis. Stat. § 30.523(2); *see also* N.R. 5.06(1).

After Warden Dilley made the observations of the large motor and the color of the registration decals, he turned his patrol boat around to get a look at the boat (33:12).

Warden Dilley testified that he returned to the pier where the vessel was docking, and he docked his patrol boat on the opposite side of that dock (33:12). Warden Dilley decided to make contact with the lone occupant of the vessel, later identified as Chad Kippley, because he wanted to further investigate whether or not the motor attached to Kippley's vessel was in violation of the motor power capacity statute (33:13). He informed Kippley of the reason for making contact with him, and asked Kippley if the vessel he was operating was a personal water craft (33:14). Kippley said that it was not a personal water craft (33:14). Kippley informed the warden that the small vessel was homemade and the previous owner built it from a kit (33:52). Kippley had done some mechanical work to get the boat running, but much of the work that he did on the vessel was cosmetic (33:52).

Warden Dilley testified that he asked Kippley if his vessel had a capacity plate, which identifies the maximum number of persons you can hold on a vessel and the maximum horsepower of a motor you have on the vessel (33:14). Kippley did not answer that question, but told Warden Dilley that it was a 30 horsepower motor (33:14). However, Warden Dilley explained during his testimony that Kippley's

vessel did not have a capacity plate, meaning Warden Dilley could not determine whether the motor was in violation of the statute (33:14). Wisconsin Statutes require the following information to be included on a capacity plate:

A capacity plate shall bear the following information permanently marked thereon so as to be clearly visible and legible from the position designed or normally intended to be occupied by the operator of the vessel when under way:

(a) For all vessels designed for or represented by the manufacturer as being suitable for use with outboard motor:

- The total weight of persons, motor, gear and other articles placed aboard which the vessel is capable of carrying with safety under normal conditions.
- 2. The recommended number of persons commensurate with the weight capacity of the vessel and the presumed weight in pounds of each such person. In no instance shall such presumed weight per person be less than 150 pounds.
- 3. Clear notice that the information appearing on the capacity plate is applicable under normal conditions and that the weight of the outboard motor and associated equipment is considered to be part of total weight capacity.
- 4. The maximum horsepower of the motor the vessel is designed or intended to accommodate.

Wis. Stat. § 30.501(2).

Warden Dilley testified that in response to his questions, Kippley asked why the department would let him register a vessel if it was equipped with a motor in excess of the maximum horsepower rating (33:15). Warden Dilley

explained to Kippley that the department does not have that information when a vessel is registered, and department staff would have to look at the capacity plate on the actual boat to get that information (33:15). Warden Dilley testified that at this point in the conversation, Kippley was still sitting on the vessel next to the dock, and the warden was kneeling down on the dock, only a few inches from Kippley (33:15). Given the close proximity, Warden Dilley said he could smell the odor of intoxicants emanating from Kippley's breath (33:16). Warden Dilley also observed that Kippley had glassy, bloodshot eyes, and his mannerisms and responses were fairly slow and deliberate (33:16). It was at this point in the brief investigatory stop that the focus of the stop changed from the power motor capacity violation to a possible OWI investigation (33:17).

Warden Dilley testified that he has been a warden for four years, and during that time he gained experience with different types of water crafts and what equipment they should have (33:6-7). Moreover, Warden Dilley makes contact with approximately 50 boaters on a busy summer day, and nine out of 10 of contacts result in some type of equipment violation (33:8-9) In light of his experience and

training, Warden Dilley testified that he knew that the observations of Kippley's small vessel were typically indicative of two things: one, the vessel was operating at a speed greater than the slow no-wake which would cause the vessel's bow to rise out of the water or two, the vessel may be equipped with a motor that is in excess of its maximum horsepower or capacity rating (33:30).

Violating the slow no-wake and the motor power capacity statutes are both citable offenses. See Wis. Stats. § 30.66(3)(ag)2. and § 30.62(2m). The observations of Warden Dilley, combined with the reasonable inferences he made from them, are certainly enough to rise to the level of reasonable suspicion allowing Warden Dilley to stop Kippley's small vessel and briefly question him.

The circuit court found Warden Dilley's testimony credible, based on the clarity in describing his observations of the vessel and the motor, and the court noted that he was an experienced warden given his four years on the job (33:63). The court concluded that from the standpoint of an experienced warden, one logical and reasonable explanation of the warden's observations was that the motor was oversized for the boat, and this was an adequate basis for the stop (33:66). The court also

confirmed that Warden Dilley was entitled to expand the scope of his stop based on observations indicative of intoxication made during the warden's investigation (33:66). The court found there was no basis for the motion to suppress, and subsequently denied Kippley's motion (20:1-2; 33:67).

An unpublished 2014 Court of Appeals case originating out of Dane County involving whether there was reasonable suspicion for the stop of a boat provides some persuasive value given the limited number of cases involving boating while intoxicated. In State v. Teniente, a law enforcement officer with the Marine and Trail Enforcement Team heard the operator of a boat yell "[t]hat's the sound of freedom" during the Rhythm and Booms fireworks event, and noticed the words sounded slurred. State v. Teniente, No. 2013AP799, ¶¶ 4-5, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. Jan. 30, 2014). The officer stopped the boat based on that conduct alone. Id. The Court of Appeals held that the officer did have reasonable suspicion to stop the boat based on the officer's observations of the boater's conduct. Id. ¶ 19. Although this case is unpublished, pursuant to Rule 809.23(3), it can be cited for persuasive value.

When contrasting Teniente with the present case, the officer in Teniente only had a loud verbal statement that sounded slurred to base the stop of the boater on. However, in the present case Warden Dilley had several facts to support that Kippley violated the power motor capacity statute: a large motor on the back of the vessel, no horsepower markings on the motor, and the vessel was traveling in a bow-out position. Although these facts individually may not but sufficient to rise to the level of reasonable suspicion, when considered together with the warden's training and experience, a court could certainly find that reasonable suspicion for a stop existed. The trial court in this case did reason to that same conclusion. If this Court can find that a boater yelling during a community fireworks celebration is enough specific and articulable facts to support reasonable suspicion that crime is or may be afoot, then certainly Warden Dilley's observations amount to reasonable suspicion basis when considering the totality of the circumstances.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE TRIAL COURT'S DENIAL OF KIPPLEY'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS BECAUSE WARDEN DILLEY HAD REASONABLE SUSPICION TO STOP KIPPLEY AND HIS SMALL VESSEL.

The circuit court made a factual finding of Warden Dilley's observations of Kippley's vessel, the credibility of the warden, and Warden Dilley's relevant training and experience. The court held that the facts were sufficient to support a reasonable suspicion that Kippley's vessel may be in violation of the power motor capacity statute (20:1-2; 33:66). Under Terry v. Ohio and its progeny, as well as under Wis. Stat. § 968.24, if an officer has reasonable suspicion that a person is committing or has committed a criminal or non-criminal traffic offense, the officer may stop a person for brief questioning. The circuit court found that Warden Dilley did have reasonable suspicion to conduct a brief investigatory stop of Kippley, and therefore the Terry stop was justified and the court's denial of Kippley's motion to suppress should be affirmed.

III. IF THIS COURT FINDS THAT WARDEN DILLEY'S INTERPRETATION OF WIS. STAT. § 30.62(2M) IS CONTRARY TO THE MEANING OF THE STATUTE, THE STATE ARGUES THAT THE WARDEN'S MISTAKE OF LAW WAS REASONABLE UNDER STATE V. HOUGHTON AND HEIEN V. NORTH CAROLINA, AND THEREFORE THE STOP WAS VALID.

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